Isabell Lippold

The impact of Covid 19 lockdowns on the physical activity level in older adults

Insights from the Generation 100 study

Master's thesis in Exercise Physiology Supervisor: Dorthe Stensvold May 2024

Norwegian University of Science and Technology Faculty of Master's thesis Department of Circulation and Medical Imaging



Isabell Lippold

The impact of Covid 19 lockdowns on the physical activity level in older adults

Insights from the Generation 100 study

Master's thesis in Exercise Physiology Supervisor: Dorthe Stensvold May 2024

Norwegian University of Science and Technology Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Department of Circulation and Medical Imaging



Infographic

The Impact of the Covid 19 lockdowns on the physical activity level in older adults

Insights from the Generation 100 Study



Analyzing physical activity from 2018 til 2021 in older adults previously randomized to supervised high intensity interval training (HIIT), moderate intensity continuous training (MICT) or to a control groups asked to follow physical activity recommendations. Did the Covid 19 lockdowns have an impact on physical activity level?

Participants



Physical Activity assessed through annual questionnaire

Results



Conclusion



All groups had a significant decrease in physical activity between 2019 and 2020. This study suggests that Covid 19 lockdowns had a negative impact on physical activity in all three groups, with no differences between the groups.



Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank Professor Dorthe Stensvold for giving me the opportunity to write this thesis and sharing advise and expertise whenever needed. I couldn't have finished this project without her help.

Secondly, I would like to thank Sindre Midttun for invaluable support when it came to all things statistics. It saved me many sleepless nights.

Thank you to my parents for letting me misuse their dining room table as my office for half a year. Thanks to my partner for putting up with my random babbling about frequency tables and the like. Thank you to my neighbors for checking in on me and my progress, and proofreading my work. A big thank you to Ashley E. Muller for simply giving me an hour of her time when I needed it most!

Last, but not least I would like to thank the participants of the Generation 100 study, for without them, I wouldn't have had a project to write about.

Table of contents

Infographic
AcknowledgementsII
Table of contents
List of Figures IV
List of Tables IV
Abbreviations IV
Abstract1
Introduction
Methods
Study design4
Subjects4
Physical Activity Index5
Anthropometric measures7
Statistical analysis and data presentation7
Results9
Baseline characteristics9
Changes in total PA9
Discussion
Changes in physical activity13
Changes in physical activity components15
Physical activity as mitigation strategy16
Strength and limitations17
Conclusion18
References
Appendices

List of Figures

Figure 1 Flow chart showing study population from 2014 to 2021
Figure 2 Changes in PA-Index from 2018 to 2021
Figure 3 Changes in training frequency from 2018 to 2021
Figure 4 Changes in training duration from 2018 to 2021
Figure 5 Changes in training intensity from 2018 to 2021
Figure 6 Changes in training intensity according to the BORG Scale of perceived exhaustion from 2018 to 2021

List of Tables

Table 1 Questions used to calculate the PA-Index
Table 2 Baseline characteristics of participants
Table 3 Sum of activity from year 5 through 8 (2018 to 2021)
Table 4 BORG Scale of perceived exhaustion and its explanation

Abbreviations

BMI	Body Mass Index
HRmax	Maximal Heart Rate
HIIT	High Intensity Interval Training
LTPA	Leisure Time Physical Activity
MICT	Moderate Intensity Continuous Training
PA	Physical Activity
PA-Index	Physical Activity Index
SD	Standard Deviation

Abstract

Background: The Covid 19 pandemic is to date one of the largest global health crises, causing millions of deaths worldwide. Older adults were especially vulnerable to the infection. Physical activity (PA) has been highlighted as an important strategy to maintain physical and mental health as people age. Knowledge on how the pandemic and lockdowns affected PA in older adults is scarce. The present study aims to investigate the impact of Covid 19 lockdowns on PA level in older adults.

Methods: This is a sub-study of the longitudinal randomized controlled trial in older adults, the Generation 100 project. In total, 1110 older adults (72.3 ± 2.0 years at baseline) participating in Generation 100 were included in the present study. Total physical activity was measured using a physical activity index, calculated from questionnaire answers obtained at year 5, 6, 7, and 8. A linear mixed model was utilized to analyze the changes over time between the groups, while the Wilcoxon test was used to investigate changes within each group.

Results: All groups had a significant reduction in total PA of 11.86% on average, from 2019 to 2020, coinciding with the implementation of Covid 19 lockdowns. Despite changes within all groups, there were no significant reductions in PA level between groups. Only MICT showed a significant decrease in PA frequency from year 6 to 7, while HIIT and Control had a significant reduction in duration of PA during the same period. Control and HIIT also showed a significant decrease in training intensity from 2019 to 2020, while only Control significantly decreased intensity according to the BORG scale during that time.

Conclusion: The present study suggests that Covid 19 lockdowns had a notable impact on the total PA in older adults, regardless of intervention group. These findings underscore the importance of considering PA patterns among the senior population when implementing preventative strategies during public health emergencies.

Keywords: Covid 19, physical activity, older adults, lockdowns

Introduction

Due to the rising age of the population and declining birthrates, society is witnessing a shift in the demographic, by which the proportion of the elderly within civilization is rising (1). This demographic shift represents progress within the field of medicine, however, it poses both challenges and opportunities for public health (2,3). Due to more incidences of age-related diseases, the economic burden on society will increase, but investing in successful ageing is important for society and the world economy (3). The elderly are an active part within the economy. Science and medicine must therefore shift their focus not only to more and better geriatric healthcare, but also to find ways for the aging population to lead a more active and healthy life (2).

Physical activity and exercise have emerged as an important factor determining the health and life quality of the aging population (4). According to the World Health Organization (4) older adults should engage in 150-300 minutes of moderate intensity aerobic physical activity, or 75-150 minutes of high intensity aerobic activity per week. However, little is known about older adults' compliance with current guidelines (5). The long term Generation100 study (6) has produced numerous substudies exploring the effect of exercise on all-cause mortality and cardiovascular health of the senior population (7,8). Exercise interventions have been shown to increase physical activity in the elderly (6), however, evidence suggests that the increase in physical activity level does not lead to long term behavior changes (9). Previous studies have also shown physical activity to have a positive effect on the immune system (4,10). This applies to the elder population as well (6).

In 2020 the world experienced one of the worst pandemics in history. A wide array of administrative failures, a lack of international communication, and the late acceptance of the severity of the Covid 19 infection (11) led the world to shut down. Studies have reported that both mental and physical health diminished during resulting lockdowns (12). The worst effect, however, was death. Nearly 8 million deaths related to Covid 19 have been reported to date (13). A significant percentage (80% between 2020 and 2021) were people older than 60 years old (14). Thus, older adults are especially vulnerable to such health emergencies (15). The increased risk

of infection for the older population led to a multitude of studies analyzing the impact of the pandemic on older adults (12,16).

Researchers looked into the effect of Covid 19 on exercise and vice versa with mixed results (17). National lockdowns and other regulations might have caused a reduction in exercise for many, which could have led to worse health outcomes for the older population in particular (18). Nygård et al. observed not only a decrease in physical activity in older adults, but also that those who decreased their PA level had worse health than those who continued their regular PA (19). Furthermore, researchers have found an increase in sedentary time and resulting decline in mental health (20). Some studies have come to the conclusion that a regular exercise regimen can lead to a better immune response, which might help lessen the effect of the Covid 19 virus (21,22).

Long term studies such as the Generation 100 (23) allow researchers to further understand not only the interplay between aging and exercise, but also between exercise and potential positive health outcomes during a global health crisis (22), such as Covid 19.

Although previous studies have shown that PA decreased during the pandemic, data on older adults is scarce. Thus the aim of this study was to examine the effects of Covid 19 lockdowns on the activity level in older adults (23).

Methods

Study design

This is a sub-study of the long-term randomized controlled trial, the Generation 100 study (6), that examined long term effects of different training modalities on all-cause mortality and cardiovascular health in older adults. The complete study protocol has been described previously (23) and will not be portrayed in detail at this point. Briefly, 1567 participants were included in the study, with females accounting for 790 of the participants and males 777. All participants were between 70-77 years of age and were randomly assigned to one of two intervention groups, or to a control group. The high intensity interval training (HIIT) group trained two times per week, consisting of 4x4 minute intervals at 85-95% of maximum heartrate (HRmax), with 3 minute breaks between the intervals (24). Prior to the intervals, 10 minutes of warm-up were performed. Participants in the moderate intensity continuous group (MICT) trained for 50 minutes two times per week at ~70% of their HRmax. Both MICT and HIIT were supervised during training. They also attended a mandatory spinning session every 6th week.

The remaining participants were assigned to the control group and instructed to follow guidelines for physical activity outlined by the Norwegian Health Department (25). These guidelines advise daily activity for 30 minutes of moderate intensity. The intervention period lasted from 2012 to 2018, whereafter the participants were encouraged to continue to exercise on their own. All remaining participants were sent an annual detailed questionnaire to assess their health status and PA level after 6, 7, and 8 years follow-up.

Results of the Generation 100 show that supervised aerobic exercise was not superior to a control group on 5 years survival in older adults. However, there was a strong tendency that HIIT was better than MICT.

Subjects

In this study the existing list of participants within the Generation 100 study is utilized to analyze the physical activity of participants during the pandemic. A total of 1110

participants, that had previously been randomized 2:1:1 to control, MICT, and HIIT, were included in this study. All participants that have replied to at least one questionnaire after the intervention (2018) until 2021 were included in the analysis. The number of participants in each group at 5,6, 7, and 8 years follow-up are presented in Figure 1. A complete study protocol and exclusion criteria can be found in Stensvold et al. 2015 (23).



Figure 1: Flow chart of study population from the beginning of the Generation 100 study (2012) until year 8 (2021)

Physical Activity Index

To analyze the physical activity of participants, the annual questionnaire included multiple questions concerning physical activity, which were used to calculate the physical activity index (PA-Index) by multiplying the answers of the questions presented in Table 1. PA-Index was used to quantify total PA of participants. Total PA therefore is the product of training frequency, duration, and intensity (19,26). The use of the questionnaire and the reliability of the PA-Index have been validated by Kurtze et al. (26). And used in several studies (27). Total PA was thus measured at years 5, 6, 7, and 8.

The questions are weighted to yield a PA-Index between 0 - 15. Each participant was grouped into one of three activity levels (28):

- 1) 0.05 1.50 = low activity level
- 2) 1.51 3.75 = medium activity level
- 3) 3.76 15.0 = high activity level

In addition to total PA, changes in the individual components of the index (frequency, duration, intensity) and a subjective measurement of intensity, BORG-Scale (29), were assessed in the present study. The BORG-Scale (Appendix 2: Table 4) is a measure of perceived exertion (29).

Table 1: Questions used to calculate the PA-Index. The weight for each answer ismarked in parentheses. Table and associated values are adapted from Kurtze et al.(26)

How often do you exercise?	How hard do you exercise?	What is the average duration in each session?
Never (0)	Easy, not getting out of breath	Less than 15 minutes (0.10)
	or sweaty (1)	
Less than once a week (0.5)		15-29 minutes (0.38)
	Hard, so I am out of breath and	
Once a week (1.0)	sweaty (2)	30-60 minutes (0.75)
2-3 times per week (2.5)	To exhaustion (3)	More than 60 minutes (1.0)
Almost every day (5.0)		

Anthropometric measures

At baseline (year 5) participants were invited to have clinical datapoints measured. Researchers recorded data of participant's height and waist circumference in cm. A stadiometer (Seca 222, Hamburg, Germany) was utilized to measure participants height to the nearest millimeter. To measure the waist circumference, a measuring tape was used at the upper iliac crest around the waist. Body weight in kg and BMI in kg/m² were measured using bioelectrical impedance (Inbody 720, BIOSPACE, Seoul, Korea). For participants with pacemakers, the BMI was calculated by hand. National registries were used to identify age and sex of the participants.

Statistical analysis and data presentation

Descriptive variables are presented stratified by group as mean \pm standard deviation, while categorical variables are presented as number and percentage. Q-Q plots were utilized to assess normality of the data. These plots showed a non-normal distribution, therefore a Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test was used to analyze changes within the groups. Confidence intervals of 95% were used for statistical tests, with significance level set at α =0.05.

To calculate the changes in total PA and its components from year to year, a linear mixed model (LMM) was used, in which participants were run as random effects, while all outcome variables were tested individually as dependent variables. All groups and years were included in the LMM to compare groups with each other from year to year (group*time). No other covariates were included in the calculations. The Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test was applied to analyze changes within each group throughout the study period.

Changes from year 6 to year 7 are of primary importance. Year 6 of the study corresponds to calendar year 2020, in which the Covid 19 pandemic hit.

All statistical analysis was conducted using the IBM SPSS Statistics 28.0.0.0 (SPSS Inc, Chicago, USA). Tables were designed within Microsoft 365 Word (Redmond, Washington, USA), while graphs were built using Microsoft 365 Excel (Redmond, Washington, USA). The flow chart in Figure 1 was constructed in Microsoft 356

Power Point (Redmond, Washington, USA). The Infographic was illustrated utilizing Canva 1.42.0 (App, Perth, Australia).

Results

Baseline characteristics

As the current study analyzes years 5 to 8 of the Generation 100 study, the baseline characteristics refer to values from year 5 (2018). Table 2 shows the baseline characteristics exclusively of participants who have attended testing at year five in addition to answering the annual questionnaire of the same year.

	Control (472)	MICT (232)	HIIT (218)
Females, n (%)	234 (49.6)	111 (47.8)	103 (47.2)
Age (years)	72.18 ± 2.00	72.27 ± 2.04	72.44 ± 2.07
Height (cm)	169.54 ± 8.84	170.13 ± 9.09	169.37 ± 9.03
Waist circumference (cm)	94.73 ± 10.79	94.72 ± 11.39	93.81 ± 10.76
Weight (kg)	74.20 ± 12.88	74.58 ± 12.46	73.47 ± 13.50
BMI (kg/m²)	25.70 ± 3.46	25.68 ± 3.54	25.45 ± 3.27
PA-Index	3.99 ± 2.79	4.22 ± 2.49	4.35 ± 2.53

Table 2: Baseline characteristics

Data is presented as mean ± SD. Abbreviations: SD: standard deviation, MICT: moderate intensity continuous training, HIIT: high intensity interval training, BMI: body mass index

Changes in total PA

There were no significant differences observed in the changes of total PA between the groups throughout the years in this study (Figure 2).

A significant decrease in total PA was observed within all three groups from year 6 to 7 with an average of 11.86%. Separated by the groups the decrease in total PA was 11.47% (p=<0.001) in control, 7.79% (p=0.041) in MICT, and 16.32% (p=<0.001) in HIIT.

Only MICT showed a significant decrease in total PA from year 5 to 6 of 5.46% (p=0.048)



No significant changes were recorded from year 7 to 8 in either group.

Figure 2: Mean changes in PA-Index from year to year shown separated by groups. *Abbreviations: MICT: moderate intensity continuous training, HIIT: high intensity interval training*

Frequency

There were no significant differences between the groups in exercise frequency throughout the study (Table 3). No significant reductions in training frequency were observed from year 5 to 6 in either group. However, MICT showed s significant decrease from year 6 to 7 of 5.68% (p=0.017) and HIIT significantly increased frequency by 3.72% (p=0.030) from year 7 to year 8.

No significant changes in training frequency were observed in the control group at any timepoint.

Duration

There were significant differences in exercise duration observed between HIIT and MICT (p=0.004) at 7 year follow-up, as well as HIIT and control (p=0.023) at 8 year follow-up (Table 3). No other differences between the groups were observed.

However, MICT and HIIT significantly decreased training duration from year 5 to 6 by 2.5% (p=0.036) and 5% (p=0.015) respectively. From year 6 to 7 control significantly decreased duration by 4% (p=0.003), while HIIT decreased duration by 6.58% (0.004). No other changes were observed in control after year 7, while HIIT significantly increased training duration by 9.86% (p=<0.001) from year 7 to 8.

Intensity

A significant difference was observed between HIIT and MICT (p=0.011) at 6 years follow up. No other differences between the groups were observed throughout the study (Table 3). In MICT training intensity was decreased by 4.76% (p=0.002) from year 5 to 6. Training intensity was significantly decreased from year 6 to 7 in control and HIIT by 8.02% (p=<0.001) and 8.43% (p=<0.001) respectively. In MICT no significant intensity changes were observed during that time. No group showed significant changes from year 7 to 8.

BORG Scale

There was a significant difference in BORG between MICT and control (p=0.006), and between HIIT and MICT (p=0.043) at 7 years follow up. Only control significantly decreased intensity according to the BORG Scale from year 6 to 7 by 3.03% (p=<0.001). No other significant changes were observed within or between the groups during the period of this study (Table 3).

Table 3: Mean frequency, duration, intensity (3-scale), and BORG (6-20 scale) fromyears 5 through 8.

Variable	Year	Control	MICT	HIIT
Frequency	5	3.04 ± 1.49	3.09 ± 1.29	3.04 ± 1.35
(days/weeks)	6	2.97 ± 1.44	2.99 ± 1.41	2.99 ± 1.40
	7	3.02 ± 1.49	2.82 ± 1.41	2.96 ± 1.40
	8	3.09 ± 1.50	2.99 ± 1.35	3.07 ± 1.48
Duration	5	0.75 ± 0.21	0.80 ± 0.19	0.80 ± 0.19
(hours/session)	6	0.75 ± 0.22	0.78 ± 0.21	0.76 ± 0.21
	7	0.72 ± 0.24	0.77 ± 0.21	0.71 ± 0.24
	8	0.72 ± 0.24	$0.76\pm.020$	0.78 ± 0.20
Intensity	5	1.61 ± 0.54	1.68 ± 0.49	1.80 ± 0.54
(1-3)	6	1.62 ± 0.54	1.60 ± 0.52	1.78 ± 0.55
	7	1.49 ± 0.52	1.59 ± 0.55	1.63 ± 0.52
	8	1.56 ± 0.52	1.53 ± 0.52	1.56 ± 0.55
BORG Scale	5	13.24 ± 2.03	13.16 ± 1.83	14.30 ± 1.94
(6-20)	6	13.20 ± 2.19	13.18 ± 1.83	14.05 ± 2.04
	7	12.80 ± 2.16	13.12 ± 1.80	13.56 ± 2.27
	8	13.04 ± 2.12	13.21 ± 1.88	13.60 ± 2.23
PA-Index	5	3.97 ± 2.70	4.21 ± 2.43	4.42 ± 2.53
(0-15)	6	4.01 ± 2.80	3.98 ± 2.64	4.35 ± 2.68
	7	3.55 ± 2.52	3.67 ± 2.57	3.64 ± 2.36
	8	3.77 ± 2.64	3.74 ± 2.54	3.85 ± 2.57

Data is presented as mean ± SD. Abbreviations: SD: standard deviation, year 5: baseline, MICT: moderate continuous training, HIIT: high intensity interval training.

Discussion

The present study investigated the effects of Covid 19 lockdown measures on PA levels of older adults in Trondheim. This is the first study to evaluate the long-term effect of 5 years of supervised exercise, with different intensities, on physical activity levels in older adults 3 years after the intervention, during a global pandemic. Our data shows that the change in total PA was similar in all three intervention groups throughout this study, thus being randomized to supervised exercise for five years did result in higher PA post-intervention and pre-pandemic. These findings contradict the hypothesis that the HIIT group would show the least reduction in total PA compared to the other groups. Interestingly, a significant decrease in total PA was observed within all three groups from year 6 (2018/2019) to 7 (2020/2021) – 11.86% decrease on average – the year the Covid 19 pandemic started, and lockdowns were implemented.

Furthermore, Control and HIIT showed significant decreases in training intensity and training duration from year 6 to year 7, while MICT showed no significant changes in these categories during the same period. However, MICT was the only group showing a significant decrease in training frequency from year 6 to year 7. These results seem to concede our hypothesis, that the Covid 19 lockdowns had a negative effect on total PA in older adults.

Changes in physical activity

The observed decrease in physical activity during lockdowns in the present study, is in line with the results found in previous studies (30,31). Füzéki et al. 2021 reported a 30% decline on LTPA during the lockdown in middle-aged men and women (30), which is much higher than the results in the present study, even though the participants from Italy are younger yet had not previously been following supervised training interventions. On the other hand, Castañeda-Babarro et al. 2020 reported a decrease in vigorous PA of only 16.8% (31), though their study cohort was similar in age to Füzéki's and had also not participated in supervised training interventions priviously. In general, most studies that analyzed changes in PA during Covid 19 lockdowns, found a significant decrease in PA throughout most age groups and

across the world (32,33). However, the magnitude of change varies among populations and their respective activity level prior to the pandemic.

Even without the Covid 19 pandemic, the activity levels of older adults tend to show a downward trend over time due to biological, psychological, and environmental factors (34). Older individuals often show a decline in muscle mass and strength (35), due to age, as well as reduced PA. Reduced bone density and cardiovascular function are also often observed in older adults (7). The age related changes can affect their ability to engage in physical activity (5,36), while a lack of PA can exacerbate these age related changes. Higher age also increases risks for conditions such as osteoporosis and arthritis, which in turn can limit mobility in the elderly and hence prevent them from engaging in PA (37), even though exercise has been shown to mitigate effects of osteoporosis.

With advanced age, people also tend to change their lifestyle as they retire and withdraw from social life, which can further contribute to the reduction in PA (5). Environmental factors such as access to recreational facilities and the walkability of someone's neighborhood can add yet another barrier for the elderly to engage in PA (38). The disruption of regular life due to the Covid 19 pandemic only exacerbated the decline in PA in older adults as the current study and other studies have shown. Restrictions on outdoor activities, closure of gyms, and social distancing guidelines made it neigh on impossible for many people to continue their regular exercise routine. Participants of the Generation 100 study had a tight-knit peer group that used to train together. The Covid 19 restrictions might have prevented these individuals from training together as usual, which may have led to the decline in total PA.

All of that said, our data also show a slight increase in total PA, as well as most of the components of total PA, from year 7 to year 8 (2020-2021). Though none of these upward changes are significant, they do indicate a return to pre-lockdown activity habits. Nygård et al. however reported that it is unlikely for many to return to pre-pandemic activity levels, or it may take a long time for people to do so (19), yet the participants in the present study show a clear upward trend immediately after reduction in lockdown measures. This may be due to the participants having previously followed supervised training interventions.

While this study specifically examined the impact of Covid 19 lockdowns on total PA in older adults, all age groups were impacted by the global pandemic (20,39). However, younger people may have been more adaptable to other forms of exercise, such as home-based workouts. The younger generations are more involved with technology that could allow them to continue their lifestyle (40), than older adults tend to be, which could have exacerbated the decline in PA in the elderly. Nonetheless, this does not mean the elderly were uniquely impacted by Covid 19. All age groups had their challenges during the pandemic, and differences in PA may exist within and between the different age groups. It is therefore imperative to implement physical activity as mitigation strategy and general health strategy for everyone (41).

Changes in physical activity components

Since total PA is a product of training frequency, duration, and intensity, the decline in total PA could be due to changes in either of these three components. Interestingly, the control group was the only group showing decreases in two of three components, plus the BORG Scale, from 2019 to 2020. MICT only decreased training frequency during the same period, while HIIT decreased training duration and intensity, but showed otherwise no changes during that time. In a recent study Brand et al. aimed to analyze the changes in frequency of PA, during Covid 19 lockdowns, and using a statistical model to predict changes in exercise frequency for future pandemics (42). Interestingly, the results from the latter study revealed that people who were not active pre-pandemic tended to increase their training frequency during the lockdown. Importantly, that study also showed that people who were active pre-pandemic tended to training frequency (42), which is in line with the findings of this study.

As our analysis revealed, training duration was also significantly reduced in both the control group and the HIIT group from year 6 to year 7 of the Generation 100 study. An intriguing study analyzing PA of athletes at different levels during the lockdown period found that "higher level" athletes were more inclined to maintain their training (43). Though the participants of the current study cannot be classified as athletes, one could have suspected the HIIT group to maintain their training duration while lockdowns were implemented, since they are the group with the highest total PA.

However, the data show that HIIT decreased training duration to the lowest level of all three groups during that time. Unfortunately, research is currently lacking in this specific area.

Similar to training duration, control and HIIT also showed a significant decrease in training intensity from year 6 to year 7. Most studies looking at exercise intensity during the pandemic were conducted on athletes (44). However, a study by Washif et al. showed a negative impact of the Covid 19 lockdowns on training frequency, duration, and intensity, especially in amateurs athletes (44). Though the participants of the current study were highly active compared to non-participants, they could not reasonably be thought of as amateur athletes, yet one could argue the findings of the current study underline the findings of the two studies by Washif et al. (43,44), considering all groups decreased their training intensity when pandemic lockdowns were implemented.

Though perceived training intensity according to the BORG Scale (29) is not part of the total PA discussed in this thesis, it was nevertheless analyzed like the other training components. As mentioned, intensity according to the BORG Scale was not part of the calculations for total PA, but it might yield interesting results, as there is a great similarity between the answer alternatives 2 and 3 in the question about training intensity, which was used in the PA-Index. One could plausibly argue that the BORG Scale might give a better picture of the change in training intensity. Curiously, only the control group showed a significant decrease in their perceived training intensity, though all groups show a reduction in their BORG Scale scores in our data. Altogether data on intensity strongly indicates that all three groups tend to reduce the intensity of activity during the pandemic. However, since all groups trained at a relatively high intensity prior to pandemic lockdowns, it seems easier for participants to continue activity of moderate intensity while everything is closed down.

Physical activity as mitigation strategy

Multiple studies have shown PA to have positive health effects not only on the general life quality of the elderly, but also as a mitigation strategy for Covid 19 and possibly similar infections (18,45,46). Interestingly, some studies have shown moderate intensity training to be superior to high intensity training, when it comes to

mitigating infection (21,41,47). To further understand the impact of the changes in total PA on health outcomes during Covid 19, it would be interesting to investigate whether or not elderly people with a higher total PA have indeed a lower prevalence of severe cases and death due to the infection. As all groups showed decreases in one or more of the components of total PA, but were still very active, a comparison of the death percentage between participants and non-participants could enlighten researchers as to whether or not physical activity should be implemented as a prevention strategy during the next pandemic. And even during lockdowns, systems must be put into place to allow people to continue their exercise.

Strength and limitations

Since the current study is a sub-study of the large Generation 100 study, one of its strengths is the longitudinal design. This allows researchers to clearly visualize changes within behavior over time.

Another strength is the trial design. Randomized control trials are a gold standard when it comes to eliminating bias and creating intervention groups of equal distribution (48). That together with the large sample size of the largest study of its kind worldwide, allows us to clearly detect differences between the various intervention groups. Additionally, a large proportion of females have been participating in the main study, while women have historically been underrepresented in research.

A perceived limitation lies within the methodology of the current study, even though using linear mixed models to analyze longitudinal changes is a gold standard. Since all participants who had at least one data point pertaining to physical activity were included, the results only show an aggregate of the groups, not however of the participants. For future research it might be interesting to do a case study using similar analysis of only participants that have all necessary datapoints throughout the study period and compare their data by person and group affiliation. However, since randomized control trials are the gold standard, this analysis might be more accurate when not analyzed on a case-by-case basis, but still with only those participants that have all datapoints throughout the study period. The sample size would likely be significantly reduced, but the results might give a clearer understanding of the changes within and between the intervention groups.

Another limitation is that the control group was highly active during the intervention period and have even used high intensity interval training, thus potentially blurring the lines between the control and the HIIT group.

Furthermore, as reported by Stensvold et al. (23), participants in the current study are on average of higher education and general health, as severe disease and mobility issues were an exclusion criteria for the Generation 100 study. This could lead to overestimations of the PA in older people, when generalizing the results of the current study. The findings described here should therefore be used with caution when trying to implement the results in health policies.

The biggest limitation in the methodology is that total PA was measured using a questionnaire. The gold standard for measuring total PA is the accelerometer. However, since there is not a well-established threshold to map different levels of activity with an accelerometer in older adults, the questionnaire is a valid method to assess PA in this age group (6).

Additionally using two measurements of training intensity might be confusing. The difference in perception between training intensity and BORG Scale might be due to the fact, that self-reported perceived exertion is very subjective to each person. Furthermore, subjective measurements follow a relative longitudinal development as well, as indicated by the high standard deviation seen in Table 3. However, multiple studies have attested to the reliability of self-reported exertion with the help of questionnaires (26,49).

This thesis seeks to add to the knowledge, and therefore help the older population and society at large to adjust their lifestyle accordingly in order to enhance their health and successful ageing. The Covid 19 pandemic serves as a stark reminder that society is likely to encounter similar global health crises in the future (50). This thesis therefore tries to add valuable insights, which in turn might be implemented in real life to stem the next global pandemic.

Conclusion

This study provides insights into the impact of lockdown measures during the covid 19 pandemic on the total PA of older adults.

Our data shows a decrease in total PA -albeit not statistically significant- from year 7 to year 8 (2020-2021) in HIIT, MICT, and control, with no differences between the groups. As studies have shown physical activity to have had positive health effects, our data highlight the need to facilitate PA during potential future lockdowns in order to prevent negative health outcomes for all people and specifically among older adults, though much more research is needed to further understand the intricacies of viral outbreaks and physical activity as prevention and mitigation strategy.

References

- 1. Mahmood MN, Dhakal SP. Ageing population and society: a scientometric analysis. Qual Quant. 2023 Aug;57(4):3133–50.
- 2. Rowe JW, Kahn RL. Successful Aging. The Gerontologist. 1997 Aug 1;37(4):433–40.
- 3. Organization WH. World report on ageing and health [Internet]. World Health Organization; 2015 [cited 2024 Apr 8]. Available from: https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/186463
- 4. Organization WH. Global action plan on physical activity 2018–2030: more active people for a healthier world [Internet]. World Health Organization; 2018 [cited 2024 Apr 8]. Available from: https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/272722
- 5. Sun F, Norman IJ, While AE. Physical activity in older people: a systematic review. BMC Public Health. 2013 May 6;13:449.
- Stensvold D, Viken H, Steinshamn SL, Dalen H, Støylen A, Loennechen JP, et al. Effect of exercise training for five years on all cause mortality in older adults—the Generation 100 study: randomised controlled trial. BMJ. 2020 Oct 7;m3485.
- 7. Sandbakk SB, Nauman J, Zisko N, Sandbakk Ø, Aspvik NP, Stensvold D, et al. Sedentary Time, Cardiorespiratory Fitness, and Cardiovascular Risk Factor Clustering in Older Adults--the Generation 100 Study. Mayo Clin Proc. 2016 Nov;91(11):1525–34.
- 8. Letnes JM, Berglund I, Johnson KE, Dalen H, Nes BM, Lydersen S, et al. Effect of 5 years of exercise training on the cardiovascular risk profile of older adults: the Generation 100 randomized trial. Eur Heart J. 2022 Jun 1;43(21):2065–75.
- 9. Maintenance of Physical Function 1 Year After Exercise Intervention in At-Risk Older Adults: Follow-up From the LIFE Study - PMC [Internet]. [cited 2024 May 9]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5905630/
- 10. Apostolopoulos V, Borkoles E, Polman R, Stojanovska L. Physical and immunological aspects of exercise in chronic diseases. Immunotherapy. 2014 Oct;6(10):1145–57.
- 11. Sachs JD, Karim SSA, Aknin L, Allen J, Brosbøl K, Colombo F, et al. The Lancet Commission on lessons for the future from the COVID-19 pandemic. The Lancet. 2022 Oct;400(10359):1224–80.
- 12. Fastame MC, Mulas I, Putzu V, Asoni G, Viale D, Mameli I, et al. The Impact of SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19) and its Lockdown Measures on the Mental and Functional Health of Older Individuals. Psychiatr Q. 2021;92(4):1759–69.
- 13. Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation [Internet]. [cited 2024 Apr 8]. IHME | COVID-19 Projections. Available from: https://covid19.healthdata.org/
- 14. Harris E. Most COVID-19 Deaths Worldwide Were Among Older People. JAMA. 2023 Mar 7;329(9):704.

- 15. Caramelo F, Ferreira N, Oliveiros B. Estimation of risk factors for COVID-19 mortality preliminary results [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2024 Mar 26]. Available from: http://medrxiv.org/lookup/doi/10.1101/2020.02.24.20027268
- 16. Dowd JB, Andriano L, Brazel DM, Rotondi V, Block P, Ding X, et al. Demographic science aids in understanding the spread and fatality rates of COVID-19. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2020 May 5;117(18):9696–8.
- 17. Changes in Physical Activity Patterns Due to the Covid-19 Pandemic: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis PMC [Internet]. [cited 2024 May 9]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8871718/
- 18. Shahrbanian S, Alikhani S, Ahmadi Kakavandi M, Hackney AC. Physical Activity for Improving the Immune System of Older Adults During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Altern Ther Health Med. 2020 Aug;26(S2):117–25.
- 19. Nygård AJ, Taraldsen K, Granbo R, Selbæk G, Helbostad JL. Impacts of COVID-19 restrictions on level of physical activity and health in home-dwelling older adults in Norway. European Review of Aging and Physical Activity. 2022 Dec 9;19(1):30.
- 20. Meyer J, McDowell C, Lansing J, Brower C, Smith L, Tully M, et al. Changes in Physical Activity and Sedentary Behavior in Response to COVID-19 and Their Associations with Mental Health in 3052 US Adults. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020 Sep;17(18):6469.
- 21. Hagiu BA. Moderate exercise may prevent the development of severe forms of COVID-19, whereas high-intensity exercise may result in the opposite. Medical Hypotheses. 2021 Dec 1;157:110705.
- 22. Desapriya E, Dhatt A, Gunaratna D, Pike I. Potential of Exercise as a COVID-19 Prevention Strategy. Am J Prev Med. 2023 Jul;65(1):169–70.
- 23. Stensvold D, Viken H, Rognmo Ø, Skogvoll E, Steinshamn S, Vatten LJ, et al. A randomised controlled study of the long-term effects of exercise training on mortality in elderly people: study protocol for the Generation 100 study. BMJ Open. 2015 Feb 12;5(2):e007519.
- 24. Helgerud J, Høydal K, Wang E, Karlsen T, Berg P, Bjerkaas M, et al. Aerobic High-Intensity Intervals Improve V⁻O2max More Than Moderate Training. Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise. 2007 Apr;39(4):665–71.
- 25. Helsedirektoratet [Internet]. [cited 2024 Apr 29]. Voksne og eldre generelle råd. Available from: https://www.helsedirektoratet.no/faglige-rad/fysisk-aktivitet-i-forebygging-og-behandling/voksne-og-eldre
- 26. Kurtze N, Rangul V, Hustvedt BE, Flanders WD. Reliability and validity of self-reported physical activity in the Nord-Trøndelag Health Study HUNT 1. Scand J Public Health. 2008 Jan;36(1):52–61.
- 27. Aspenes ST, Nauman J, Nilsen TIL, Vatten LJ, Wisløff U. Physical Activity as a Long-Term Predictor of Peak Oxygen Uptake: The HUNT Study. Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise. 2011 Sep;43(9):1675.
- 28. Meira DT, Gonçalves LG, Araújo LH, Gasparini M, Cunha BS, Monteiro A, et al. Talk the talk and walk the walk! Association between Weekly Exercise Load and Knowledge about Recommendations for Fighting Innactivity. Int J Cardiovasc Sci. 2019 Apr 1;32:473–80.

- 29. Borg G a. V. Psychophysical bases of perceived exertion. Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise. 1982;14(5):377.
- 30. Füzéki E, Schröder J, Carraro N, Merlo L, Reer R, Groneberg DA, et al. Physical Activity during the First COVID-19-Related Lockdown in Italy. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2021 Jan;18(5):2511.
- 31. Castañeda-Babarro A, Arbillaga-Etxarri A, Gutiérrez-Santamaría B, Coca A. Physical Activity Change during COVID-19 Confinement. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020 Sep 21;17(18):6878.
- 32. Füzéki E, Schröder J, Groneberg DA, Banzer W. Physical Activity and Its Related Factors during the First COVID-19 Lockdown in Germany. Sustainability. 2021 Jan;13(10):5711.
- Andrei CL, Catană A, Mirică A, Petcu IR, Arsene AL, Ciolan DF. THE IMPACT OF COVID-19 LOCKDOWN ON THE LEVEL AND INTENSITY OF PHYSICAL ACTIVITY: A STATISTICAL ANALYSIS ON ROMANIAN YOUNG ADULTS. The Medical-Surgical Journal. 2021;125(4):550– 62.
- 34. Gschwind YJ, Kressig RW, Lacroix A, Muehlbauer T, Pfenninger B, Granacher U. A best practice fall prevention exercise program to improve balance, strength / power, and psychosocial health in older adults: study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. BMC Geriatrics. 2013 Oct 9;13(1):105.
- 35. Hairi NN, Cumming RG, Naganathan V, Handelsman DJ, Le Couteur DG, Creasey H, et al. Loss of muscle strength, mass (sarcopenia), and quality (specific force) and its relationship with functional limitation and physical disability: the Concord Health and Ageing in Men Project. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2010 Nov;58(11):2055–62.
- 36. Unhjem R, van den Hoven LT, Nygård M, Hoff J, Wang E. Functional Performance With Age: The Role of Long-Term Strength Training. J Geriatr Phys Ther. 2019;42(3):115–22.
- 37. Dent E, Daly RM, Hoogendijk EO, Scott D. Exercise to Prevent and Manage Frailty and Fragility Fractures. Current Osteoporosis Reports. 2023;21(2):205.
- 38. Choi J, Lee M, Lee J koo, Kang D, Choi JY. Correlates associated with participation in physical activity among adults: a systematic review of reviews and update. BMC Public Health. 2017 Apr 24;17:356.
- 39. Comparison of children's physical activity profiles before and after COVID-19 lockdowns: A latent profile analysis PMC [Internet]. [cited 2024 Apr 15]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC10681209/
- 40. Nyenhuis SM, Greiwe J, Zeiger JS, Nanda A, Cooke A. Exercise and Fitness in the Age of Social Distancing During the COVID-19 Pandemic. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. 2020;8(7):2152–5.
- 41. Hutchinson NT, Steelman A, Woods JA. Behavioral strategies to prevent and mitigate COVID-19 infection. Sports Medicine and Health Science. 2020 Sep 1;2(3):115–25.
- 42. Brand R, Timme S, Nosrat S. When Pandemic Hits: Exercise Frequency and Subjective Well-Being During COVID-19 Pandemic. Front Psychol [Internet]. 2020 Sep 24 [cited 2024 Apr 15];11. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/journals/psychology/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.570567/full

- 43. Washif JA, Farooq A, Krug I, Pyne DB, Verhagen E, Taylor L, et al. Training During the COVID-19 Lockdown: Knowledge, Beliefs, and Practices of 12,526 Athletes from 142 Countries and Six Continents. Sports Med. 2022;52(4):933–48.
- 44. Washif JA, Mujika I, DeLang MD, Brito J, Dellal A, Haugen T, et al. Training Practices of Football Players During the Early COVID-19 Lockdown Worldwide. International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance. 2022 Dec 5;18(1):37–46.
- 45. Duggal NA, Niemiro G, Harridge SDR, Simpson RJ, Lord JM. Can physical activity ameliorate immunosenescence and thereby reduce age-related multi-morbidity? Nat Rev Immunol. 2019 Sep;19(9):563–72.
- 46. Damiot A, Pinto AJ, Turner JE, Gualano B. Immunological Implications of Physical Inactivity among Older Adults during the COVID-19 Pandemic. Gerontology. 2020 Jun 25;66(5):431–8.
- 47. Supriya R, Gao Y, Gu Y, Baker JS. Role of Exercise Intensity on Th1/Th2 Immune Modulations During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Front Immunol. 2021;12:761382.
- 48. Hannan EL. Randomized Clinical Trials and Observational Studies: Guidelines for Assessing Respective Strengths and Limitations. JACC: Cardiovascular Interventions. 2008 Jun 1;1(3):211–7.
- 49. Rangul V, Holmen TL, Kurtze N, Cuypers K, Midthjell K. Reliability and validity of two frequently used self-administered physical activity questionnaires in adolescents. BMC Medical Research Methodology. 2008 Jul 15;8(1):47.
- 50. Jones KE, Patel NG, Levy MA, Storeygard A, Balk D, Gittleman JL, et al. Global trends in emerging infectious diseases. Nature. 2008 Feb;451(7181):990–3.

Appendices



Appendix 1: Supplemental Figures of changes in physical activity components

Figure 3: Changes in training frequency from 2018 to 2021



Figure 4: Changes in training duration from 2018 to 2021



Figure 5: Changes in training intensity from 2018 to 2021



Figure 6: Changes in training intensity according to the BORG Scale of perceived exhaustion from 2018 to 2021

Appendix 2:

Table 4: BORG Scale of perceived exhaustion and its explanation (29)

6	No exertion at all	No muscle fatigue, breathlessness or difficulty in breathing.
7	Extremely light	Very, very light
8	Little enterly inght	(cr), (cr) light
9	Very light	Like walking slowly for a short while. Very easy to talk.
10		
11	Light	Like a light exercise at your
12	Moderate	own pace.
13	Somewhat hard	Fairly strenuous and breathless. Not so easy to talk.
14		Carbon Carbon Carbon Constraints 🖉 a constraint d'Alinautrice
15	Hard	Heavy and strenuous. An upper
15	naru	running or walking fast.
16		
17	Very hard	Very strenuous. You are very tired and breathless. Very difficult to talk.
18		
19	Extremely hard	The most strenuous effort you have ever experienced.
20	Maximal exertion	Maximal heaviness.



